

#### Minnesota State University Moorhead

#### **RED:** a Repository of Digital Collections

Dissertations, Theses, and Projects

**Graduate Studies** 

Spring 5-10-2024

#### Best Practices for working with children who have experienced sexual abuse: A Training Resource Manual for Mental Health Counselors

Olivia Johnson oo5024cy@go.minnstate.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://red.mnstate.edu/thesis



Part of the Counseling Commons

Researchers wishing to request an accessible version of this PDF may complete this form.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Johnson, Olivia, "Best Practices for working with children who have experienced sexual abuse: A Training Resource Manual for Mental Health Counselors" (2024). Dissertations, Theses, and Projects. 924. https://red.mnstate.edu/thesis/924

This Project (696 or 796 registration) is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at RED: a Repository of Digital Collections. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations, Theses, and Projects by an authorized administrator of RED: a Repository of Digital Collections. For more information, please contact RED@mnstate.edu.

## Best Practices for working with children who have experienced sexual abuse: A Training Resource Manual for Mental Health Counselors

A Project Presented to the Graduate Faculty of Minnesota State University Moorhead

By

Olivia Johnson

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Clinical Mental Health Counseling

April 2024

Moorhead, Minnesota

2

**Abstract** 

This paper reviews literature related to issues and practices associated with childhood sexual

abuse including best practices for working with victims of sexual abuse. Children who are

victims of sexual abuse often suffer from trauma related symptoms and the use of certain

approaches can provide better treatment outcomes. Following the review, a training will be

presented that provides counselors with information on best practices when working with

children who have experienced sexual abuse.

Keywords: Childhood Sexual Abuse, Trauma, PTSD.

#### **Table of Contents**

Introduction	5
Literature Review	7
Sexual Abuse of Children	7
The Effects of Sexual Abuse on the Victim	8
Therapeutic Alliance	9
Evidence Based Practices	10
Cognitive Behavioral Therapy	10
Trauma Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy	11
Non-Directive Approaches	13
Play Therapy	13
Art Therapy	14
Conclusion	15
Training Overview	17
Slide One	18
Slide Two	19
Slide Three	20
Slide Four	21
Slide Five	23
Slide Six	24
Slide Seven	25
Slide Eight	27
Slide Nine	28

Slide Ten	29
Slide Eleven	30
Slide Twelve	31
References	32
Appendix A	37

#### Introduction

The experience of sexual abuse in childhood can change the way children and young individuals understand the world and where they belong in it. While circumstances of the abuse can vary, trauma related symptoms can delay the disclosure of the abuse for years. When an individual is ready to disclose, creating a safe and trusting environment can help the victim of sexual abuse start to process what they are willing to share (Manay & Collin-Vézina, 2021). Walker et al. (2004) suggested that sexual abuse in girls has been associated with a higher risk of PTSD than other types of traumas. Independent of gender, PTSD has a higher risk of developing due to multiple trauma-related factors following a traumatic event such as sexual abuse. Understanding and recognizing child sexual abuse can be difficult, especially when the victims themselves are having to overcome the barriers of shame and trust. Most children find it difficult to disclose their experience due to shame, self-blaming or fear of being blamed by others (Vrolijk-Bosschaart et al., 2018).

Self-blame and shame can create unhealthy coping strategies that push the child further away from reality and prevent forming relationships with others. The association between self-blame, shame and guilt can impact the therapeutic process and hinder the trusting relationship between the client and the therapist (McElvaney et al., 2022). Many different therapeutic approaches work to provide the best environment for the child and fit their individual needs as they begin therapy. Understanding the needs of the child and how they respond to different approaches is imperative in reaching positive treatment outcomes. This knowledge and understanding can aide the counselor to in providing a safe and trusting counseling experience for victims of sexual abuse. A training manual was developed as a way to provide counselors

with information on best practices and treatment considerations when working individuals who have experienced childhood sexual abuse.

#### Literature Review

#### **Sexual Abuse of Children**

Victims of sexual abuse can develop long-term and severe mental health issues following the sexual abuse. It is pertinent that we understand not only the facts, but the perceptions and experiences that victims go through in order to provide a safe and trusting environment for them. Manay & Collin-Vézina (2021) shared that the disclosure of childhood sexual abuse (CSA) has become increasingly important in working with children who are victims of sexual abuse. Analyzing the narratives aides the therapist in considering all parts of the individual's identity and experience, rather than focusing only on the abuse they endured (Vollman, 2021).

Childhood sexual abuse is typically defined as a form of child abuse that involves sexual activity between a child and adult (Walker et al., 2004). While there are varying definitions that can be found, the CDC defines childhood sexual abuse as any type of completed or attempted sexual act, sexual contact with, or exploitation of a child by a caregiver or other individual (Hanson & Wallis, 2018). According to Hanson and Wallis (2018), 676,000 children in the United States were victims of abuse or neglect, reflecting a rate of 9.1 victims per 1,000 children under the age of 18. Of these reported cases, 8.5% were victims of childhood sexual abuse. Additionally, McElvaney et al. (2022) estimated that the prevalence of child sexual abuse ranges between 8-31% for girls and 3-17% for boys. While childhood sexual abuse may be less prevalent than other forms of child abuse, it has significant acute and long-term consequences. Certain risk factors, such as age, sex, and family structure, can increase the likelihood of childhood sexual abuse, however, supportive caregivers, early identification, and appropriate therapeutic approaches can ameliorate these adverse effects (McElvaney et al. 2022).

Certain risk factors increase the likelihood of childhood sexual abuse. Hanson & Wallis, (2018) found higher rates of abuse for girls than boys, suggesting that the risk of sexual victimization is approximately 3 to 4 times greater for girls than for boys. Along with that, other factors that have been associated with an increased risk for childhood sexual abuse include lower socioeconomic status, residing in a home with a single parent, being in foster care, parental substance abuse or mental illness, living in a rural area, and living in a home with domestic violence. With known risk factors, it remains critical for clinicians to be aware of potential signs or symptoms of sexual abuse as for some individuals the warning signs may not be as recognizable. Signs can include showing distress in the waiting room, anxiety around leaving caregivers side, and or not feeling comfortable being examined. Along with these signs, symptoms can include nightmares, new fear of the dark, bedwetting, withdrawal, irritation, or outbursts (Hanson & Wallis, 2018).

#### The Effects of Sexual Abuse on the Victim

Wohab & Akhter (2010) identified that psychological effects including depression, suicidal attempts, fear of adults, and inability to complete work may also be signs of abuse.

Mokma et al., (2016) shares that there are several studies that have documented self-blaming among children who are sexual abuse survivors. Self-blame has been linked to negative behaviors and symptoms, as the individuals are blaming their core characteristics as a reason for the trauma. In the early signs of CSA, the child may display behaviors such as acting out, hostility towards others and running away. Initial symptoms are reported in the beginning, especially behaviors associated with fear, anxiety, depression, and anger. PTSD or Post-traumatic stress disorder is a common outcome of childhood sexual abuse victim (Wohab & Akhter, 2010). Identifying the correlation between PTSD and sexual abuse can be imperative

when looking at how PTSD presents itself in individuals (Mokma et al., 2016). Additionally, Wohab & Akhter (2010) suggested that individuals that are victims of childhood sexual abuse may suffer from long term anxiety, depression, and panic disorder. As a result of these disorders, some individuals may develop suicidal thoughts due to feeling ashamed or embarrassed. These effects show the immediate recognition of pain, confusion, and loss that they are experiencing, unsure of who they can trust now that they have lost their security.

#### Therapeutic Alliance

A strong early therapeutic alliance for PTSD has been associated with better engagement, better adherence to treatment, and less dropout (Keller et al., 2010). The development of an early alliance can be more difficult, however, it is imperative to create a positive therapeutic process. In typical development, the surfacing of emotional regulation skills is guided by caretakers. Unfortunately, processes are impaired when a child is exposed to sexual abuse, especially if the abuse took place in the home. Cloitre et al. (2004) suggested that maltreated children, in comparison to other children, have a more difficult time understanding their emotions and knowing how to express them.

Less attachment avoidance and a stronger therapeutic relationship are crucial in reaching positive treatment outcomes with clients (Smith et al., 2012). The relationship between the client and clinician can be beneficial as it provides a space for children to learn about emotions, their expression, and relationships with others. Additionally, Cloitre et al. (2004) suggests that a consistent therapeutic alliance in the initial phase of treatment has the capacity to reduce symptoms of PTSD and promote success of the therapeutic process.

#### **Evidence Based Practices**

Victims of sexual abuse can be hesitant and unsure about opening up about their experience as they may feel ashamed or embarrassed about what happened. Acknowledging the challenges that can arise when working with individuals that are victims of sexual abuse can be important as a clinician in the beginning stages of the therapeutic process when developing the relationship. The therapy interventions and approaches for working with children who have been sexually abused must be structured and prioritized based on what is best for the individual.

Making a collaborative decision with the child and the caretaker will result in greater engagement and completion of therapy (Simmons, 2021). There are evidenced-based structured and non-directive approaches that a clinician can use. CBT and TF-CBT are approaches that many clinicians are drawn to and have been shown to be effective approaches (Narang et al. 2019). Counselors must select the approach that best fits the client.

#### **Cognitive Behavioral Therapy**

Cognitive Behavioral Therapy or CBT is known as the golden standard for treatment for many mental health problems and has been shown to have positive impacts on the clients (Simmons, 2021). Iverson et al. (2011) suggested that when treating depressive symptoms that correlate with a PTSD diagnosis, the use of cognitive behavioral therapy can decrease the likelihood of future victimization and increase the likelihood of reaching positive treatment outcomes. Kim et. al (2009) suggested that from narrative therapy to group therapy, these cognitive behavioral interventions are designed to address difficult emotions that are associated with abuse. Interventions should be strength-based and tailored to fit the unique needs of the clients. This allows the client to develop self-compassion and self-care strategies when they have moments of overwhelming thoughts and emotions.

Matthys & Schutter (2022) suggest that putting emphasis on outcome expectations, affective empathy, decision-making and problem-solving skills, emotional regulation, and awareness skills can improve the effectiveness of CBT. Shaping the treatment and intervention approach to the specific needs of the individual can create a positive experience and help reach positive outcomes. Furthermore, Haan et al. (2024) identified that CBT can focus on trauma and PTSD symptoms, especially for individuals who have high distress levels before starting treatment. CBT can also be successfully used in treatment even if caregivers are not able to take part in the process. Riise et al. (2023) discussed the importance of therapists gaining knowledge and education on CBT as well as considering the developmental level of the individual in order effectively tailor the treatment to match the child's needs and abilities.

#### Trauma Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy

Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy or TF-CBT is a treatment approach that includes both individual sessions with the client and parent-child sessions, if deemed appropriate by the clinician. TF-CBT has been shown to be effective in enhancing both the affective and behavioral functioning of the parent and child. A trauma focused therapy process integrates both skills used in a thoughtful manner and approaches that lead to the improvement of trauma symptoms (Mannarino et al., 2012). This therapy approach consists of a treatment plan that provides the child with skill-building interventions that can help the client process their trauma without reacting to the negative trauma responses. Along with individual approaches for the client, the approach also involves parenting interventions that assist navigating the relationship between the client and parent, if including the parent is deemed appropriate (Mannarino et al., 2012). This approach relies heavily on the trauma narrative intervention and is important in effectively reducing the child's fear and anxiety and alleviating parental distress (Deblinger et

al., 2011). Use of a trauma narrative allows the client to make sense of their experiences with someone they can trust and in an environment that is safe. While there are steps to achieve before a narrative can take place, this approach allows the client to use skills and techniques taught in session to retell their story, allowing the client to gain emotional power over the trauma. Trauma narratives allow for the child to decrease the feeling of self-blame and humiliation. Supporting the child in developing a trauma narrative can aide in describing and processing their trauma and allows the relationship between the parent a client to form again.

The first type of love that a child is exposed to and will experience in their life is family love. Cultivating a strong bond within a family is extremely important when reintroducing the child to trust and safety within a relationship. Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy is intertwined with family intervention and utilizes the family dynamic (Foster, 2014). Family involvement can be immensely important as families have the potential to provide vital support to a child by creating a sense of hope and security. When working with a child that has suffered a trauma such as abuse, a parent demonstrating readiness to participate in the narrative family session can allow the child to feel a sense of safety and allow them to open up more in the sessions. Preparation of the parent before starting the combined sessions is an important component of a successful family session as it coaches the parent to utilize beneficial ways of comforting their child. Preparing the parent is a key part of this approach because as the child will be having honest and open communication about the abuse, the parent will be there to provide support, understanding and unconditional positive regard (Foster, 2014). A trauma narrative approach allows the child to go through the sessions and process what they've experienced with the support of a parent/parents. Through this, parents can learn how they can demonstrate empathetic listening and demonstrate that they are fully present and supportive of

what the child is sharing. The intervention helps the family discuss the challenges and create a plan to move forward that addresses the child's narrative and safety concerns that they have (Foster 2014).

Mannarino et al. (2012) suggest that family involvement provides the child and the parent with skill-building to enhance the child's self-regulation, and parenting interventions to enhance management skills and support of the child. Enriching the relationships within the family is an imperative part when reintroducing the child to a relationship that offers trust and security. This is cathartic for not only the child, but it helps the parent process and understand the nature of what happened to their child and moves the parent into a supportive role (Foster, 2014).

#### **Non-Directive Approaches**

Narang et al. (2019) discussed that client-centered therapy has been shown to be effective for child and adolescent survivors of CSA and involves helping the client understand and recognize their own emotions and establish their own therapeutic path.

#### **Play Therapy**

Play therapy is an intervention that utilizes structured therapeutic activities, such as games, dolls and sensory toys and helps the child to process their trauma. Springer and Misurell (2012) introduces play therapy as a unique way of working with children by using engagement and interaction to help the child overcome their understandable hesitation to the therapist. Play therapy utilizes role play, modeling, rehearsal, and storytelling as a way for the client to process their trauma. Play therapy has shown to be effective for children that are victims of sexual abuse. To create a positive therapeutic alliance, the use of games and activities can be implemented to help the clinician and child improve their communication skills with each other. Play therapy can be used to help with this process and can include rapport building, personal space and

boundaries, emotion identification and expression, linking feelings to experiences, coping with difficult emotions, and relaxation training (Springer & Misurell, 2012). Using games in a session can help individuals feel more relaxed and comfortable as they are exposed to the memories of what happened to them. Providing a session that incorporates play can help the individual see that they are in a caring, warm environment which then allows the client to gradually feel more comfortable sharing their experience. Springer and Misurell (2012) suggested that individuals after treatment showed significant behavioral improvements and a decrease in trauma-related symptoms as well as an increase in insight and perspective regarding their trauma.

Games and play are thought to enhance the therapeutic and learning process through the focus of the treatment goals (Springer et al., 2015). Play can be used to help the parent process and heal from the disclosure of sexual abuse and addresses emotional and physical sensations regarding their feelings of the trauma. More specifically, the use of games allows the caregiver to gain emotional control, enhance social skills, and acquire skills necessary to support their child's recovery (Springer et al., 2015). Play therapy is different from "just" playing as it helps navigate the child's feelings and helps develop social skills as children express their feelings, allowing the caregiver to process how the child expresses their feelings and learn how to support the child. By implementing and using Play Therapy, the client can improve their communication, emotional expression, and overall well-being, while regaining a sense of safety and control.

#### **Art Therapy**

Art is used to promote expression of the client's self and individuality. Art therapy not only addresses emotional and cognitive aspects but also allows the child to develop social skills. Laird and Mulvihilil (2022) studied a population of individuals exposed to childhood sexual abuse and integrated an art therapy approach to determine the effectiveness. The results showed

the important balance of expressing the individual's story while maintaining the child's wellbeing. Art allows the child to make sense of their thoughts and world while connecting with their emotions. A disclosure of sexual abuse creates feelings of confusion and conflicting emotions. Art therapy allows all the pieces of the story to be put together and produce a powerful and detailed representation of how the trauma impacted the victim and the family (Pifalo, 2009). Art therapy allows the child to work on the expression of their thoughts and feelings as well as gain a sense of community and trust through their art. The process of art therapy gives the participants tools to establish their thoughts on the traumatic experience and help them regain control. Visualizing and drawing out the experience can also be a tool used in family therapy with a client that is a victim of sexual abuse (Pifalo, 2009).

Attempting to verbalize a trauma can often result in confusion. Visual representation through art can help put the pieces of the trauma together and help the parent and child reach a level of clarity with what happened. It can validate the family's emotions surrounding the trauma (Pifalo, 2009). Art therapy allows the child to not only express their thoughts and feelings from the traumatic experience, but also gain a sense of community and trust. Art therapy can be used when clients are having difficulty expressing their thoughts and feelings surrounding what happened and aids them in feeling safe while they express what they are feeling without being judged or criticized.

#### Conclusion

The victimization that occurs when a child is exposed to sexual abuse can hinder their ability to believe that they are anything more than what happened to them. Creating a safe and trusting environment in therapeutic sessions allows the child to feel as though they are human, and they can trust people. Directly targeting interventions for each unique child is associated

with positive treatment outcomes (Hanson & Wallis, 2018). Understanding the needs of the child and how they respond to trauma is imperative in reaching positive treatment outcomes. This knowledge and understanding can aide the counselor in providing a safe and trusting counseling experience. A training manual was developed to provide counselors with information on best practices and treatment considerations when working children who have experienced childhood sexual abuse.

#### **Training Overview**

#### **Purpose**

In attending this training, attendees will increase their understanding of the impact of trauma on children and learn about approaches that address the needs of each unique client. This training is not meant to provide advanced education or certification in the identified approaches. Rather, this training is meant to provide an overview of evidenced-based interventions that can be utilized with children who have experienced sexual abuse.

#### **Trainer Qualifications**

The person giving this training should have a master's in counseling or a related field, appropriate licensure related to their field of study, experience working with children who have been victims of sexual abuse, and advanced knowledge of each of the approaches being discussed.

#### **Length of Training**

The approximate length of this training is three hours.

#### **Evaluation**

An evaluation is provided in Appendix A, and should be given to attendees upon completion of the training to assess learning outcome

#### **Training**

Slide One:



Time: One Minute

**Script:** Hello and welcome to this training session. Today we are going to be learning about best practices that can be used when working with children who have experienced sexual abuse. Many of you work with clients in a variety of different environments but with today's training, you will have established a knowledge and understanding of different approaches you can use to expand your practice.

Slide Two:

#### **PURPOSE**

Learning Objectives:

- Increase our understanding and awareness of the impact of trauma on children
- Recognize approaches that acknowledge the client's individual need's and address their trauma symptoms.
- Become confident in utilizing approaches that facilitate the growth in your clients.

2

Time: Two minutes

Script: The main purpose of this training is to provide our clients with the best treatment. The desire for competence and confidence in counseling individuals who have been exposed to sexual abuse is what this training is about. When working with a trauma such as sexual abuse, especially with children, we often feel like we are not equipped and educated enough. The purpose is to be informed of trauma-focused approaches that can be used with clients. The learning objectives for today are to increase our understanding and awareness of the impact of trauma. We will also recognize approaches that acknowledge the client's individual needs and address their trauma symptoms. Finally, we will become confident in utilizing approaches that facilitate growth.

Slide Three:

# WHAT DO YOU KNOW ABOUT USING TRAUMA FOCUSED APPROACHES IN THERAPY?

**Time: Ten minutes** 

**Script:** Before we start discussing best practices that can be used with clients, I want to hear from you all on what you already know about using trauma-focused approaches. Please discuss at your tables before coming back to the larger group.

Slide Four:

#### IMPACT OF TRAUMA

676,000 children in the United States were victims of abuse or neglect, of those children, 8.5% were victims of childhood sexual abuse (Hanson & Willis, 2018).

**Time: Five minutes** 

Script: The experience of sexual abuse in childhood can change the way children and young individuals understand the world and how they belong in the world. While there are varying definitions that can be found for childhood sexual abuse, it typically can be defined as any type of completed or attempted sexual act, sexual contact with, or exploitation of a child by an adult figure. Those who experience child sexual abuse can face long-term effects that can negatively impact their lives, hindering their ability to form relationships and develop a sense of belonging. Many survivors of sexual abuse do not realize or process the harm that happened to them and while over 600,000 children have reported abuse in the home, abuse can often go unreported due to a variety of reasons. Understanding the needs of the child and how they respond to their trauma is imperative in reaching positive treatment outcomes. This knowledge and understanding can aide the counselor to in providing a safe and trusting counseling experience for victims of sexual abuse. This training manual was developed to provide counselors with information on

best practices and treatment considerations when working with individuals who have experienced childhood sexual abuse.

Slide Five:

# WHAT DO YOU ALREADY KNOW ABOUT CBT AND TF-CBT?

Time: Ten minutes

Script: Similar to asking about trauma-focused therapy, I want to ask you what you already know about CBT and TF-CBT. There are some individuals here that may already use CBT or TF-CBT in their work today and there may be some that have only had some education on them. Either way, I want you to break off into your groups again and discuss these therapeutic approaches. I will give you five minutes again to discuss this and then we will come back as a large group to hear what you all discussed.

Slide Six:

#### COGNITIVE BEHAVIORAL THERAPY

- Cognitive Restructuring
  - Helps client pick out upsetting thoughts and beliefs about the world and their trauma experience.
- Exposure Therapy
  - Requires the client to focus on and describe the details of the traumatic experience, using safe but confronting stimuli until anxiety around trauma is reduced.

6

**Time: Five minutes** 

Script: CBT focuses on problem-solving and action-based solutions. CBT can help an individual understand and challenge unhealthy thought processes and emotions that are impacted due to their trauma. There are a variety of CBT techniques that can be used to tailor treatment to meet the individual's specific needs. One technique that can be used is Cognitive Restructuring. This can used to help explore, challenge, and eventually change negative thought patterns with more positive and healthy ones. Another technique that can be used is Exposure Therapy. Individuals that may be avoiding situations, people, places, or things that remind them of their trauma can benefit from exposure therapy as it slowly introduces and engages the individual to the stress-related stimuli in a safe environment. With this, you can work with the client to learn how to cope with their high stress-levels and eventually lower anxiety levels when confronted with what they used to avoid. Some techniques that I will talk about a little later but are important to note that they are part of the CBT approach. is another technique, like play, helps the child express their emotions and thoughts through art.

Slide Seven:

# TRAUMA - FOCUSED COGNITIVE BEHAVIORAL THERAPY

- Psychoeducation
  - Normalize experience to trauma, explain and educate on PTSD symptoms and trauma and create hope for treatment outcome.
- Relaxation
  - Creating awareness of capacity to change from state of tension to state of relaxation, teach specific calming/relaxation skills
- Narrative
- Client works to tell the story of their trauma and identify unhelpful or inaccurate cognitions.
   Develop an understanding of what happened that acknowledges the trauma but doesn't define the child.

**Time: Five minutes** 

Script: The goals for TF-CBT are that child will learn the relationship between thoughts, feelings, and behaviors. The child will go through psychoeducation on trauma and trauma-related symptoms like PTSD. And finally gain skills that can help them process and work through their trauma without reacting in a way that can negatively impact them. As you progress though the different phases of TF-CBT, the child often becomes more confident in themselves and with expressing what happened to them and how it impacted them. Before they get to this part, as a therapist, you work through different skills and techniques that can equip the child with what they need to process what happened. As mentioned above, psychoeducation on trauma can really help the child start to understand more about what they are going through. Psychoeducation can help educate the client on trauma reminders and common reactions people have to trauma along with normalizing the client's reactions. This helps provide hope. Another important aspect that is addressed with TF-CBT is relaxation skills. Relaxation is an important step in the process as it helps the client use relaxation strategies when they start discussing their trauma and what happened to them. Relaxation can include focused breathing, muscle relaxation or mindfulness

exercises to decrease the reaction to trauma reminders. Another important step, which is usually going to be done when you believe the child is ready to start talking about their trauma without it being a trigger, is the trauma narrative. This is a step in TF-CBT that allows you and the client to work through a detailed narrative of the child's personal trauma experience. It is important to note that as you go through this step, it is imperative to continue checking in with the client and make sure they are in a good place to continue talking about their narrative.

Slide Eight:

#### ART THERAPY

- Draw the Challenging Emotion
- Using a paper, client will create an image that represents whatever feeling is challenging them, thinking if the feeling has a message for them.
- Help for the Challenging Emotion
  - Using a piece of paper, draw a challenging feeling, then draw out what could help them or what is helping them get through the emotion.
- Triptych for Challenging Feelings
  - Split paper in three columns for "Challenging Feeling, How I Want to Feel and What Will Help" client will use art to express themselves for each column.

9

**Time:** Three minutes

Script: Art therapy is an approach that utilizes the creative process to improve emotional well-being and promote self-expression and growth. It can help clients explore and communicate their thoughts, feelings, and experience with trauma. There are different activities that you can use for this approach. One activity can be drawing the challenging emotion. This would be an activity that guides the client to use art to represent whatever feeling is challenging the client, then asking the client if the emotion is trying to tell them anything. Another activity would be help for the challenging emotion. The client would begin to question what is helping them with that emotion, then drawing what is helping them or what could help them. Another activity could be triptychs for challenging feelings. This would be creating columns that represent "what well help, challenging the feeling, and how I want to feel" In each column, the client would draw, paint, or do whatever they wanted to express each of the responses.

Slide Nine:

#### PLAY THERAPY

- Self-Control Games
- Ex. "Simon Says", "Red Light, Green Light", "Think it or Say it"
- Sensory Play
  - Ex. Hand-Held Manipulative Toys, Sand Box, Sensory Bin, Guided Imagery
- Doll Play
- Ex. Dollhouse, Puppets, Dolls

10

Time: Three minutes

Script: Play therapy is an approach that works to help clients process emotions through expressing themselves with play. Children who have been abused might benefit from play therapy to regain a sense of normality in their lives. Techniques for play therapy include toys, games, and storytelling to help the client express themselves. One activity that can be used during play therapy is self-control games, this can help a child learn self-control as well as listening and attention skills. Another activity can be sensory play, this can help the child feel relaxed and in control. Another activity can be doll play, this can work to help them act out scenarios and relationships.

Slide Ten:

#### CASE STUDY

Mary is a 9-year-old female who has been diagnosed with PTSD. Mary is closed off and guarded, and Mom reports that she doesn't talk to anyone. Mom reports that she believes Mary was sexually abused by her dad, who is no longer in their lives after they divorced and moved away from him. Mary comes to sessions and asks to play with the dollhouse every time, she does not say much when she plays but will ask if therapist can play with her.

**Time:** Thirty minutes

**Script:** We are going to work through this case study for the next half hour or so. You will have this time to work with your group to discuss how you might go about session with Mary. What might work best for her? What would you want to be careful of when you are working with her? Is there anything that wouldn't work with her? Discuss this with your group and we will come back in about thirty minutes to discuss as a large group.

Slide Eleven:

# DISCUSSION

**Time:** One minute plus additional time for discussion (3-10 minutes).

**Script:** I know that this was a lot of information to learn about and so I want to take the time to reflect and open the discussion to you all. Is there anything that stood out to you the most that you want to use and continue to expand your knowledge on? Is there anything that was discussed that has been something you have used and have found to be helpful? I will open the floor for you.

Slide Twelve:

### THANK YOU!

14

Time: One minute

**Script:** As I stated at the beginning of the training was to be better informed of trauma-focused therapy and offer information that better equips therapists to work with children that have experienced childhood sexual abuse. I will know pass out the post-training evaluation (found in Appendix A). It should only take 5-10 minutes to complete.

#### References

- Browne, A., & Finkelhor, D. (1986). Impact of Child Sexual Abuse: A Review of the Research.

  \*Psychological Bulletin, 99(1), 66–77. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.99.1.66">https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.99.1.66</a>
- Cloitre, M., Stovall-McClough, K. C., Miranda, R., & Chemtob, C. M. (2004). Therapeutic Alliance, Negative Mood Regulation, and Treatment Outcome in Child Abuse-Related Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 72(3), 411–416. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.3.411">https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.3.411</a>
- Deblinger, E., Mannarino, A. P., Cohen, J. A., Runyon, M. K., & Steer, R. A. (2011). Trauma focused cognitive behavioral therapy for children: impact of the trauma narrative and treatment length. *Depression and Anxiety*, 28(1), 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20744
- Hanson, R. F., & Wallis, E. (2018). Treating victims of child sexual abuse. The American Journal of Psychiatry, 175(11), 1064–1070.

https://doiorg.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18050578

- de Haan, A., Meiser-Stedman, R., Landolt, M. A., Kuhn, I., Black, M. J., Klaus, K., Patel, S. D., Fisher, D. J., Haag, C., Ukoumunne, O. C., Jones, B. G., Flaiyah, A. M., Catani, C., Dawson, K., Bryant, R. A., de Roos, C., Ertl, V., Foa, E. B., Ford, J. D., ... Dalgleish, T. (2024). Efficacy and moderators of efficacy of cognitive behavioural therapies with a trauma focus on children and adolescents: An individual participant data meta-analysis of randomized trials. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health, 8(1), 28–39.

  https://doi-org.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1016/S2352-4642(23)00253-5
- Iordanou, C. (2019). 'The space between': Role-play as a tool in the treatment of child sexual abuse. Dramatherapy, 40(3), 134–141

  <a href="https://doi.org.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1177/0263067219899044">https://doi.org.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1177/0263067219899044</a>

- Kim, J., Talbot, N. L., & Cicchetti, D. (2009). Childhood abuse and current interpersonal conflict: The role of shame. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 33(6), 362–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.10.003
- Keller, S. M., Zoellner, L. A., & Feeny, N. C. (2010). Understanding Factors Associated with Early Therapeutic Alliance in PTSD Treatment: Adherence, Childhood Sexual Abuse History, and Social Support. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 78(6), 974–979. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020758">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020758</a>
- Laird, L., & Mulvihill, N. (2022). Assessing the Extent to Which Art Therapy Can Be Used with Victims of Childhood Sexual Abuse: A Thematic Analysis of Published Studies.

  \*\*Journal of Child Sexual Abuse\*, 31(1), 105–126.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2021.1918308
- Mannarino, A. P., Cohen, J. A., Deblinger, E., Runyon, M. K., & Steer, R. A. (2012). Trauma-Focused Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy for Children: Sustained Impact of Treatment 6 and 12 Months Later. *Child Maltreatment*, 17(3), 231–241. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559512451787">https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559512451787</a>
- Manay, N., & Collin-Vézina, D. (2021). Recipients of children's and adolescents' disclosures of childhood sexual abuse: A systematic review. Child Abuse & Neglect, 116(Pt 1), 104192–104192. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104192">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104192</a>
- Matthys, W., & Schutter, D. J. L. G. (2022). Improving our understanding of impaired social problem-solving in children and adolescents with conduct problems: Implications for cognitive behavioral therapy. Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review, 25(3), 552–572. <a href="https://doi-org.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1007/s10567-021-00376-y">https://doi-org.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1007/s10567-021-00376-y</a>

- McElvaney, R., Lateef, R., Collin-Vézina, D., Alaggia, R., & Simpson, M. (2022). Bringing

  Shame Out of the Shadows: Identifying Shame in Child Sexual Abuse Disclosure

  Processes and Implications for Psychotherapy. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 37(19-20), NP18738–NP18760. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/08862605211037435">https://doi.org/10.1177/08862605211037435</a>
- McElvaney, R., McDonnell Murray, R., & Dunne, S. (2022). Siblings' Perspectives of the Impact of Child Sexual Abuse Disclosure on Sibling and Family Relationships. *Family Process*, 61(2), 858–872. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12681
- Mokma, T. R., Eshelman, L. R., & Messman-Moore, T. L. (2016). Contributions of Child Sexual Abuse, Self-Blame, Posttraumatic Stress Symptoms, and Alcohol Use to Women's Risk for Forcible and Substance-Facilitated Sexual Assault. Journal of Child

Sexual Abuse, 25(4), 428–448. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2016.1161688

- Narang, J., Schwannauer, M., Quayle, E., & Chouliara, Z. (2019). Therapeutic interventions with child and adolescent survivors of sexual abuse: A critical narrative review. Children and Youth Services Review, 107, 104559—.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104559
- Pifalo, T. (2009). Mapping the Maze: An Art Therapy Intervention Following Disclosure of Sexual Abuse. Art Therapy, 26(1), 12–18.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/07421656.2009.10129313
- Riise, E. N., Haugland, B. S. M., & Wergeland, G. J. H. (2023). Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) with children and adolescents. In J. L. Matson (Ed.), Handbook of clinical child psychology: Integrating theory and research into practice. (pp. 407–424). Springer Nature Switzerland AG. <a href="https://doi-org.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1007/978-3-031-24926-6\_20">https://doi-org.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1007/978-3-031-24926-6\_20</a>
- Robbins, S. P. (2019). Child sex abuse and recovered memories of abuse: Looking back, looking

- ahead. Families in Society, 100(4), 367–380. https://doi.org.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1177/1044389419879590
- Simmons, S. J. (2021). 24.3 CBT FOR CHILDHOOD SEXUAL ABUSE: EVIDENCE-BASED APPROACHES. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 60(10), S36–S36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2021.07.161
- Smith, P. N., Gamble, S. A., Cort, N. A., Ward, E. A., He, H., & Talbot, N. L. (2012).

  ATTACHMENT AND ALLIANCE IN THE TREATMENT OF DEPRESSED,

  SEXUALLY ABUSED WOMEN. Depression and Anxiety, 29(2), 123–130.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20913">https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20913</a>
- Slavič, T. R., & Gostečnik, C. (2017). Relational family therapy as an aid toward resolving the trauma of sexual abuse in childhood in the process of separation in the couple relationship. Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 43(3), 422–434. <a href="https://doiorg.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1111/jmft.12212">https://doiorg.trmproxy.mnpals.net/10.1111/jmft.12212</a>
- Springer, C., & Misurell, J. R. (2012). Game-Based Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy Individual

  Model for Child Sexual Abuse. *International Journal of Play Therapy*, 21(4), 188–201.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030197">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030197</a>
- Walker, J. L., Carey, P. D., Mohr, N., Stein, D. J., & Seedat, S. (2004). Gender differences in the prevalence of childhood sexual abuse and in the development of pediatric PTSD.

  Archives of Women's Mental Health, 7(2), 111–121. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-003-0039-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-003-0039-z</a>
- Vollman, B. K. (2021). When Did I Become a Victim? Exploring Narratives of Male Childhood Sexual Abuse. Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma, 14(2), 277–293. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-021-00346-0

Vrolijk-Bosschaart, T. F., Brilleslijper-Kater, S. N., Benninga, M. A., Lindauer, R. J. L., & Teeuw, A. H. (2018). Clinical practice: recognizing child sexual abuse—what makes it so difficult? *European Journal of Pediatrics*, 177(9), 1343–1350.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-018-3193-z

#### Appendix A

#### **Exit Evaluation**

- 1. What is Cognitive Behavioral Therapy?
- 2. What is Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy?
- 3. What is one activity that can be used with Art therapy?
- 4. What is one step that can be used with TF-CBT?
- 5. On a scale of 1-5, how beneficial was this training for your role as a mental health therapist?
- 6. How would like to see this training improved?